# **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

## 09-22-2014

#### COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

## DISTRICT III

Appeal No. 2014AP001711-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

NATHAN CAFFERO,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from the Judgment of Conviction, Entered in the Circuit Court for Marathon County, the Honorable Michael Moran, Presiding

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Christina Starner Attorney at Law State Bar No. 1075570

P.O. Box 8808 Green Bay, WI 54308-8808 608-213-2228 starner.law@gmail.com Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Was the evidence presented at trial sufficient for the jury to have properly found Caffero guilty of negligent handling of burning material as party to the crime?

The trial court answered yes. (39:110-112).

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither is requested.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant Nathan Caffero was charged in this case with negligent handling of burning material as party to a crime and obstructing an officer, contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 941.10(1), 939.05, and 946.41(1). (13; App 104-07). Caffero exercised his right to a trial by jury on these charges. Caffero moved for a directed verdict at the end of the State's case but his motion was denied. (39:109-112; App 148-51). The trial took one day. Ultimately, the jury found Caffero guilty of both counts. (29; App 102). Judge Moran sentenced Caffero to nine months in jail on each count, concurrent to each other, and ordered restitution in the amount of \$1000. (42:12; 29). The judgment of conviction was filed on March 7, 2014. (29).

Caffero filed a timely notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief on March 10, 2014. (30). He did not file a postconviction motion pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.30(2)(h). He filed a timely notice of appeal. (31). The sole issue is the sufficiency of the evidence adduced to support his conviction for negligent handling of burning material as party to a crime.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The following evidence, relevant to the charge of negligent handling of burning material as party to the crime, was before the jury:

Around midnight on the morning of February 4, 2013, Nathan Caffero's girlfriend, Katelyn Muxlow, lit a stick of incense and placed the burning incense in a roll of toilet paper. (39:55, 57, 79, 80, 119; 20: Exh.1 at 6:39:10-35, 7:13:23-27; App 101). Caffero went into the bathroom around 12:45 a.m. and saw a roll of toilet paper on the floor that was burning a little at the top. (39:52, 55; 20: Exh.1 at 6:38:38-6:39:09, 6:40:00-37; App 101). Caffero poured water on the toilet paper roll, after which the burning incense and the burning roll both appeared to be extinguished. *Id.* Since all burning ceased, Caffero thought he had put enough water on the roll, left it on the floor of the bathroom, and went to bed. *Id.* No evidence was presented at trial that Caffero went into the bathroom again before he woke up in the morning to a smoky apartment roughly around 6:00 a.m.<sup>1</sup>

Around 2:00-3:00 a.m., Muxlow went into the bathroom and saw that the toilet paper roll was wet. (39:120; App 157). At this time, the toilet paper roll and incense appeared to be out, and Muxlow did not see any burning or smoking. (20: Exh.1 at 6:44:00-12; 39:56; App 101). She then went back to bed. (39:120; App 157)

Over the next several hours while the couple was sleeping, the toilet paper roll must have rekindled. (39:55-56,

7

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The squad camera video presented to the jury shows that Officer Hines arrived on the scene at 6:19 a.m. He presumably arrived within 5-10 minutes of the 911 call. Caffero called 911 within 5-10 minutes of waking up to the smoky apartment. 6:40:36. Therefore, Caffero and Muxlow would have woken up to the smoke roughly around 6:00 a.m.

93, 105; App 123-24, 144, 147; 20: Exh.1 at 6:38:57-6:39:09, 6:39:22-40; 6:44:00-12; App 101). Rekindling is when a fire appears to be out only to reignite. (39:93, 105; App 144, 147). Caffero and Muxlow woke up to a smoky apartment roughly around 6:00 a.m. Caffero then went into the bathroom, saw a hole in the floor where the toilet paper roll had been, and realized they needed to get out of the apartment. (20: Exh.1 at 6:42:38-6:43:04; 39:56; App 101, 124). Caffero ran downstairs, alerted a neighbor of the danger, and asked the neighbor to call the fire department. (*Id*; 39:114-15).

Officer Thomas Hines arrived on the scene in his squad car, which contained a recording device. (39:53; App 121). Since it was cold outside and the couple could not go into their burning apartment complex, Muxlow, Caffero, and their baby girl took shelter in Officer Hines' squad car. *Id.* Officer Hines' interview with the couple was recorded and presented to the jury as Exhibit 1, in the following relevant parts:

6:38:17 - 6:38:57

. . .

Off. Hines: And you think the fire started in the...

Caffero: Bathroom.

Off. Hines: Bathroom? Do you know what started

that?

Caffero: A roll of toilet paper.

Off. Hines: And how do you think the toilet paper

started on fire?

Caffero: What happened was we were burning

incense and we left it on the toilet paper roll. And I came back in the bathroom about an hour later and it was smoking. And I put some water on it. I thought I put enough water on it but I obviously

didn't. And so...

6:38:57 - 6:39:20

Caffero: It...I wet the toilet paper roll around 1 a.m. but I

don't think I wet it good enough. And then it must have relit back up. And then I...we woke up to smoky house. Got out. Called the fire

department.

Off. Hines: What time did you light that incense?

Muxlow: Me, I lit the incense around 12 a.m. ...

(unintelligible)

6:39:20 - 6:40:34

...

Muxlow: I lit the incense at 12 in the morning. Like 12 or

uh, yeah, around 12. We put it out at around like 12:45, but it must have still been on fire or something was still burning...(unintelligible)

Off. Hines: You tried to put it out at 12:45?

Muxlow: Yeah - I don't - I'm thinking that the incense

that was, cuz it was on the floor when I last saw it, it must have still been lit and it was, it was on

the rug and in the bathroom.

Off. Hines: So at 12:45 you knew something was wrong?

Muxlow: At 12:45 we put water on the toilet paper roll,

and, cuz we don't know exactly what started the fire. It could have been anything. But we're guessing that it was the incense or the toilet

paper roll was still on fire.

Caffero: Not on fire but like...

Muxlow: Not on fire but, you know, like it must have

been burning or something...

Caffero: It was just burnt a little bit at the top and that's

our last roll of toilet paper so I ran a little bit of water under it and, you know and it wasn't smoking or anything and I thought it was fine. But the roll of toilet paper was still a little bit warm. And so I put water on it and I thought it

was fine

6:40:36 - 6:44:49

Caffero: And then about, we went to sleep right after that.

And so at right about 5, 10 minutes before we called you guys...it would have took a really

long time.

Muxlow: Really.

Caffero: Yeah. Cuz there was no flames.

Muxlow: We're not sure exactly what started it but we're

guessing it was the toilet paper roll caught on

fire.

. . .

Off. Hines: So was this incense smoking at like 12:45 this

morning?

Muxlow: Yes, but it was...the last time I saw the incense

it was out. And the paper, the toilet roll appeared to be out as well. Cuz we felt good cuz,

[unintelligible]...

Off. Hines: Where was it located in the bathroom?

. . .

Caffero: Right next to the bathtub.

. . .

(20: Exhibit 1; 39:55-56). After Officer Hines left the squad car, Caffero and Muxlow were speaking amongst themselves. The following recorded conversation was played for the jury, in relevant part:

Caffero: It's not my fault you fucking burned the

house down.

Muxlow: Yeah I did it.

Caffero: If anything, I'm gonna get charged...

Muxlow: Really, why?

Caffero: I'm just as much responsible as you are.

Muxlow: Really you didn't light it. You just tried

to put the toilet paper roll out.

Caffero: Yeah and I didn't do a good enough job.

Therefore I was handling burning material, you know what I mean, like I could have prevented it but I didn't. We're both...you're not going to jail. I

will.

• • •

Caffero: I should have put a lot more water on

that toilet paper roll. That was our last toilet paper. If it wasn't I would have took forever to drenched it wet, threw it

away, and got another one.

(20: Exhibit 1; 39:57; App 101, 125).

The State presented four witnesses: Officer Thomas Hines, Detective Nathan Pauls, Jeremy Kopp, and David DeStantis.

Officer Hines testified about the above statements that Muxlow and Caffero made to him in the squad car. (39:48-57; App 116-25).

Detective Pauls testified that the fire was determined to be accidental and was caused by a burning roll of toilet paper. (39:85, 91). He testified that he interviewed the couple twice regarding the incident. (39:78, 81; App 129, 132). Neither of those interviews were recorded. (39:86; App 137).

His first interview with the couple took place at the emergency room on February 4 – the day of the fire. (39:79; App 130). Detective Pauls testified that Muxlow told him that she had put an incense stick in a roll of toilet paper. (39:79-80; App 130-31). He also testified that Caffero denied ever placing the incense and toilet paper on the floor. (39:94-95; 145-46).

His second interview with Muxlow and Caffero took place at their hotel room the next day. (39:81-82; App 132-33). During this interview, Caffero told Detective Pauls that the incense was on the floor when he doused it with water. (39:83; App 134).

Detective Pauls testified that, given the two interviews with him and one with Officer Hines, initially it was Caffero who lit the incense, and then it was Muxlow. (39:92; App 143). When defense counsel probed further about when exactly Caffero said he lit the incense, Detective Pauls testified that the only evidence supporting the theory that Caffero lit the incense was, at one point early on in the investigation, Caffero used the word "we" when speaking to Officer Hines:

Defense Atty: When did [Caffero] tell you he lit the

incense?

Det. Pauls: There was one portion early on that was

a "we" that was used. Other than that, it was never told me that [Caffero] lit the

incense at all.

Defense Atty: When did he make the statement that

"we" lit the incense to you?

Det. Pauls: That was through Officer Hines at the

initial.

Defense Atty: So it was made to Officer Hines, not to

you?

Det. Pauls: Correct.

(39:92; App 143). Specifically, the statement Caffero made to Officer Hines when he used the word "we" was as follows: "We were burning incense and we left it on the toilet paper roll." (20: Exhibit 1 at 6:38:38-45; 39:55; App 101, 123). In that same interview with Officer Hines, Muxlow told Officer Hines that she was the one who lit the incense. (20: Exhibit 1 at 6:39:09-33; 39:55; App 101, 123).

Jeremy Kopp and David DeStantis both testified as to the damage in apartment as a result of the fire and the test burn they conducted. (39:96-105).

After the State rested, the defense moved for a directed verdict. (39:109; App 148). The State responded:

Caffero was aware that a toilet paper roll was burning, an incense stick was burning. He assisted by attempting

to put it out, but in his own words, didn't do a good enough job.

# (39:110; App 149)(emphasis added). The court denied Caffero's motion, reasoning:

...There was testimony given that it appears a toilet paper roll was used, and there was incense placed between it, and that incense was left burning at some point during the night, and at some point, Mr. Caffero attempted to put out that incense burning, but that it rekindled. That's been the testimony, and that that rekindling may have been the cause for the fire in this matter.

Now, negligence talks about foreseeableness (sic) and whether someone did something foreseeable that could be damage to the property. It could be argued that having a toilet paper roll, setting on fire and not tending to it would have the foreseeable consequences of causing a fire. That was according to the testimony done by one of the parties. The testimony was that Ms. Muxlow may have done that, but that Mr. Caffero was aware of it; and certainly aware of it to the extent that he attempted to put out the fire or to put more water on the toilet paper in order to put it out, which did not occur. My turn.

So that in and of itself would suggest to me that there is a quantum of evidence that has been provided at this point that could sustain a verdict on Count 1 as a party to a crime. Again, I am not commenting on the strength of that evidence; that is a jury question. But on that basis, I will deny the motion for a directed verdict that this time, and this is going to be a jury question.

Did you wish to make a record of any further objections or statements?

## (39:110-12; App 149-51). Defense counsel responded:

Just that I don't think just being aware that someone else had created a risk means that he assisted in committing it

. . .

...[T]he jury instruction allows for an instruction if supported by the evidence that a person does not aid and abet if he or she is only a bystander or spectator and does nothing to assist in the commission of the crime.

## (39:112; App 151). The court responded:

The evidence was that he allowed it to remain there. He tried to put it out, did not remove it from the area, did not do anything else. So he did, according to the testimony, and I am not taking any position on strength of the testimony or credibility, but that he did manipulate what has been testified as the cause of the fire, did have some type of manipulation of that; was aware of the fact that there was a fire at some point, and I will say that that's enough to at least, given the threshold amount or quantum of evidence needed to defeat a request for directed verdict, is enough to go to a jury.

I am not saying it's over the top, but I am saying there is enough here that I can deny your motion, and I will deny your motion at this time. Let's bring the jury in.

Id.

The defense presented two witnesses: Janet Zappandiano and Katelyn Muxlow.

Janet Zappandiano was Caffero and Muxlow's downstairs neighbor at the time of the incident. (39:114; App 153). She testified that Caffero came downstairs to her apartment, said there was a fire and they all needed to get out, and asked her to call 911. (39:115; App 154).

Katelyn Muxlow testified that she accidentally burned a toilet paper roll and caught the house on fire. (39:119; App 156). She testified that she put the incense on the top of the toilet paper roll, that she was the one who decided to do this, and that Caffero had absolutely nothing to do with the lighting of the incense or the decision to place the burning incense in the roll of toilet paper. *Id.* She testified that she went to the bathroom right around 2:00 or 3:00 a.m. right before she went to bed. (39:120; App 157). At that time, she saw that the toilet paper roll was wet, although she never actually witnessed Caffero putting out the toilet paper roll. (39:120, 124; App 157, 161).

In its opening statement, the State argued that Caffero created a risk of death or great bodily harm by not putting enough water on the toilet paper roll. (39:41; App 114).

By its closing argument, the State instead argued that Caffero assisted in the commission of the crime *not* by putting water on the burning roll, but rather by leaving that roll on the floor after Muxlow placed it there:

The defendant could have picked up that toilet paper roll and put it in the sink, doused it with water. He could have put it in the toilet and made sure it was submerged. He left it on the floor. He let it burn through the floor, and you saw the results. You saw the photographs; you saw the damages.

..

When he went into a house or an apartment full of smoke, and when he went into the bathroom and saw a burning roll [of] toilet paper, did he move it? It was still in the same spot that he stated it was initially; between a bathtub and a toilet. That's where the hole was found, where it burned through the floor. Look at the results. Look at what happened here.

...He was the one who walked in. He was the one who didn't move the toilet paper roll. He is the one that let it on the floor and let it burn through the floor.

Pouring water on the toilet paper roll isn't at issue in this case. Leaving it there, leaving a smoldering, burning toilet paper roll on the floor is at issue in this case.

(39:140, 152-53; App 164, 167-68)(emphasis added).

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The evidence presented at trial was insufficient to have found Caffero guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of negligent handling of burning material as party to the crime.

The question of whether the evidence is sufficient to support a conviction is a question of law this Court reviews de novo. *See State v. Booker*, 2006 WI 79, ¶ 12, 292 Wis. 2d

43, 717 N.W.2d 676. When conducting such a review, this Court considers the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and will reverse where the evidence "is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 507, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990).

If the evidence is insufficient to support a conviction on a particular charge, this Court must reverse the judgment of conviction and direct the circuit court to enter a judgment of acquittal on that charge. *State v. Ivy*, 119 Wis. 2d 591, 609-10, 350 N.W.2d 622 (1984); see *State v. Henning*, 2004 WI 89, ¶ 22, 273 Wis. 2d 352, 681 N.W.2d 871. "[D]ouble jeopardy principles prevent a defendant from being retried when a court overturns his conviction due to insufficient evidence. Where the evidence is found insufficient to convict the defendant at trial, the defendant cannot again be prosecuted." *Id*.

A conviction for party to a crime may be obtained when the defendant either directly committed the crime, or when the defendant intentionally aided and abetted the person who directly committed the crime. As such, there are two possible theories that would permit Caffero's conviction under party to a crime: (1) that Caffero himself created a risk of death or great bodily harm, or (2) that Caffero's girlfriend created the risk, and that Caffero assisted her in creating that risk and acted with the purpose to do so. WIS JI-CRIMINAL 400. The evidence presented at trial was wholly insufficient to support a conviction on either theory. Caffero will address each theory in turn.

# A. The evidence presented at trial was insufficient to show that Caffero directly committed the crime of negligent handling of burning material.

The evidence presented at trial was wholly insufficient to show that Caffero directly committed the crime of negligent handling of burning material. Wisconsin JI – Criminal 1310 sets forth the two elements for this crime: (1) the defendant handled burning material, and (2) the defendant did so in a manner constituting criminal negligence.

# 1. Element One: The evidence was insufficient to show that Caffero handled burning material.

Regarding element one, there was insufficient evidence at trial to show that Caffero actually handled the burning material. In its closing argument, the State set forth the supporting evidence that it believed fulfilled element one, stating:

The first element which we discussed is that the defendant has to handle burning material. You heard testimony in that regard, and you actually heard the defendant's own words. He said, yeah, I placed the toilet paper roll on the ground and I poured water on it, but I didn't do a good enough job. You heard that. You heard that on the video. You heard the defendant admit that he handled it.

(39:138-39; App 162-63).

To begin, the mere act of pouring water on a toilet paper roll does not constitute handling burning material. Water is not burning material; water is used to put fires out, not start them. The burning material here would be the incense and the toilet paper roll. The State presented no evidence at trial to show that Caffero actually touched the toilet paper roll or the incense when he put water on it.

To continue, despite what the State claimed in its closing argument, there is absolutely no statement from Caffero in the video footage – or in any evidence presented at trial – that Caffero placed the toilet paper roll on the ground. All the evidence shows that Caffero *left* the toilet paper roll on the floor after it was already there, but was not the one who placed it there. This is an important distinction, as one involves physical contact with the burning material and the other does not.

Officer Hines testified that Caffero told him the toilet paper roll with the incense "was set on the floor." (39:51;

App 119). With the use of passive voice, this is not evidence that Caffero was the one who set it on the floor.

Officer Hines testified that Caffero told him the toilet paper was on the floor between the toilet and the bathtub, and that after he poured water on the burning toilet paper roll, he left it on the floor. (39:52; App 120). This is not evidence that Caffero *placed* the toilet paper roll on the floor.

When Muxlow and Caffero were in the squad car by themselves, Muxlow told Caffero, "Really, you didn't light it. You just tried to put the toilet paper roll out." (20: Exh.1 at 7:13:23-27; 39:57; App 101, 125). This is evidence that the only role Caffero played in the incident was putting water on the toilet paper roll.

Finally, Detective Pauls testified that Caffero specifically denied placing the toilet paper roll on the floor. (39:94; App 145).

There was no evidence that Caffero put the roll and incense on the floor. Rather, the evidence shows that Caffero left it on the floor after it had already been placed there. Leaving something on the floor does not constitute handling it.

The State then argued that Caffero admitted he handled the burning material. (39:139; App 163). The State was likely referring to the following statement made by Caffero in the squad car when he and Muxlow were talking amongst themselves:

Caffero: If anything, I'm gonna get charged...

Muxlow: Really, why?

Caffero: I'm just as much responsible as you are.

Muxlow: Really? You didn't light it. You just

tried to put the toilet paper roll out.

Caffero: Yeah and I didn't do a good enough job.

Therefore I was handling burning material, you know what I mean, like I could have presented it but I didn't.

We're both...you're not going to jail. I will.

(20: Exh.1 at 7:12:19-40; 39:57; App 101, 125). This statement in no way proves that Caffero handled burning material. Indeed, Caffero's statement does not even make sense. Caffero was under the illogical impression that simply being unsuccessful in his attempt to prevent the fire means he handled burning material.

Caffero is not a scholar of the law. He has no legal training. He is not an authority on what constitutes 'handling burning material.' He was simply beating himself up for not successfully preventing the fire, and he was catastrophizing the legal consequences of that. If this is what the State was relying upon in arguing that Caffero admitted he handled burning material, Caffero's illogical opinion on the matter is the type of evidence that "is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 507, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990).

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