RECEIVED

11-17-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2014AP001711-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

NATHAN CAFFERO,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN MARATHON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL K. MORAN, **PRESIDING**

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

MICHAEL J. PUERNER **Assistant District Attorney** State Bar No. 1070406

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent State of Wisconsin

Marathon County District Attorneys Office 500 Forest Street Wausau, WI 54403 (715) 261-1111 (715) 261-1110 (Fax) michael.puerner@da.wi.gov

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Was the evidence presented at trial sufficient for the jury to have properly found Caffero guilty of negligent handling of burning material?

The jury found Caffero guilty of the charge.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State agrees with Caffero that this case does not warrant oral argument or publication of the Court's decision.

SUPPLEMENTAL STATEMENT OF FACTS

Facts additional to those presented in Caffero's brief will be set forth where necessary in the Argument section.

ARGUMENT

I. THE EVIDENCE ADDUCED AT TRIAL WAS SUFFICIENT TO SHOW CAFFERO NEGLIGENTLY HANDLED BURNING MATERIAL

On June 11, 2013, a Marathon County jury found Nathan Caffero guilty of two misdemeanor crimes. Caffero now challenges the jury verdict for one of those crimes, negligent handling of burning material, a crime contrary to Wisconsin Statute Section 941.10. This statute creates a crime whenever a person "handles burning material in a highly negligent manner." Wis. Stat. § 941.10. The statute itself further states that "[b]urning material is handled in a highly negligent manner if handled with criminal negligence under s. 939.25 or under circumstances in which the person should realize that a substantial and unreasonable risk of serious damage to another's property is created."

The evidence presented at trial was sufficient to show that Caffero negligently handled burning material (in this case, a lit stick of incense and a burning toilet paper roll) and that he did so in a highly negligent manner. Caffero's handling of the burning materials – his lighting and manipulation of the material and, ultimately, his

decision to leave the still-warm and recently-kindled material on the floor in a position where it ultimately burned through the floor and ignited a blaze – was criminally negligent. The jury was properly instructed by the trial court regarding criminal negligence (39:128.) The jury returned a guilty verdict, and this reasonable and well-supported verdict should stand.

A. The standard of review is extremely deferential to the jury's verdict

In his brief, Caffero asserts that the sole issue for this appeal is the sufficiency of the evidence adduced at trial in support of his conviction for negligent handling of burning material. As this Court is aware, the bar for overturning a jury verdict due to insufficient evidence is a high one:

[I]n reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction, an appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact unless the evidence, viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. If any possibility exists that the trier of fact could have drawn the appropriate inferences from the evidence adduced at trial to find the requisite guilt, an appellate court may not overturn a verdict even if it believes that the trier of fact should not have found guilt based on the evidence before it.

State v. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 507, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990) (emphasis added and internal citation

omitted). A reviewing court will "give great deference to the determination of the trier of fact," and "must examine the record to find facts that support upholding the jury's decision to convict." *State v. Hayes*, 2004 WI 80, 273 Wis. 2d 1, 25, 681 N.W.2d 203, 215.

B. Evidence supports the jury's finding that Caffero handled burning material.

To find Caffero guilty of negligent handling of burning material, the jury was required to find that Caffero handled burning material. Wis. Stat. § 941.10. Caffero attempts to claim that no evidence was presented that he handled the burning material (Caffero Brief at 17.) However, the evidence presented at trial was replete with direct testimony and inferences to be drawn from that testimony in support of the State's assertion that Caffero handled burning material.

The trial court noted after the close of the State's case that there was testimony that Caffero "did manipulate what has been testified as the cause of the fire." (39:112.) The jury heard evidence and testimony, including Caffero's own words to law enforcement during the investigation of this crime, that showed that Caffero and his girlfriend were burning incense in their bathroom and left that incense on a toilet paper roll (39:51-52; 20: Ex. 1.)

The jury heard from Officer Hines about his interview of Caffero. Hines indicated that Caffero stated that he and another person lit some incense the evening of this incident (39:51-52.) Hines relayed to the jury that Caffero admitted that he put water on the incense and toilet paper, but did not put a lot on it (39:52.) Hines stated that Caffero informed him the toilet paper roll and incense were both set on the floor (39:51.) Caffero admits that when he returned to the bathroom later in the evening,

the toilet paper was warm (39:56.) Caffero admits that he didn't put enough water on the roll, and his girlfriend admits that the roll must have still been on fire or still burning after her use of the incense and toilet paper roll ceased (20:Ex. 1.)

The jury also heard evidence that Caffero attempted to avoid responsibility for his actions in this case by changing his story to law enforcement. The jury heard that Caffero and his girlfriend provided multiple different explanations for how the fire started in their apartment (39:80-81.) The first explanation provided directly from Caffero was that he and his girlfriend were burning incense in their bathroom and left that incense on a toilet paper roll (39:51-52; 20: Ex. 1.) Caffero specifically told Officer Hines that "we were burning incense and we left it on the toilet paper roll." (20: Ex 1, 39:55.) Caffero himself specifically admits involvement in handling the burning material that ignited his apartment.

When Caffero began to worry that he may be charged for his actions, his story began to change and his explanations to law enforcement began to differ (20: Ex. 1; 39:57.) Caffero's discussion of that concern, and his concoction of an alternative explanation for what had occurred, was captured on a squad video recording that the jury was able to hear (id.) The jury also heard Caffero's attempts to deflect blame: he attempted to claim, contrary to the evidence developed by investigators, that after water was placed on the toilet paper and incense, the material was placed on a stand nowhere near the floor (39:80.) Caffero later even specifically denied that the toilet paper was ever placed on the floor (39:81.) Caffero later stated the paper and incense were on the floor at the time of the incident (39:83.) Finally, Caffero also attempted to blame an electrical failure for the ignition of his apartment, honing in on a conversation he overheard between fire investigators and law enforcement (39:80, 82.)

Taken together, Caffero's initial admission to law enforcement that he and his girlfriend ("we") were burning incense and that the incense was left on a toilet paper roll (20: Ex 1, 39:55), combined with Caffero's later attempts to deflect blame and responsibility, provide sufficient basis for the jury to find that Caffero's first explanation was the truth of what had occurred. The jury could have, and likely did, find Caffero's multiple deflections and stories to be incredible, and found that his initial response, in which he indicated that "we" lit the incense, was the correct response. Caffero's admission that he and his girlfriend were burning incense, and Officer Hines' testimony that Caffero and his girlfriend had lit some incense that evening, when examined under the very high standard set forth in Poellinger, shows that the jury had sufficient evidence to find Caffero handled burning material.

C. Evidence supports the jury's verdict that Caffero created a risk of death or great bodily harm or acted under circumstances in which he should have realized that a substantial and unreasonable risk of serious damage to another's property was created

To find Caffero guilty of negligent handling of burning material, the jury was required to find that Caffero handled burning material in a highly negligent manner. Wis. Stat. § 941.10. Burning material is handled in a highly negligent manner if the material is handled with criminal negligence or if the material is handled under circumstances in which the person should realize that a substantial and unreasonable risk of serious damage to another's property is created. *Id*.

Wisconsin Statute Section 939.25 defines criminal negligence as "ordinary negligence to a high degree, consisting of conduct that the actor should realize creates a substantial and unreasonable risk of death or great bodily harm to another." The risk created must "be

considered great by the ordinary person, having in mind all the circumstances of the case, including the seriousness of the probable consequences." *State v. Schutte*, 2006 WI App 135, 295 Wis. 2d 256, 272, 720 N.W.2d 469 (citing *Hart v. State*, 75 Wis.2d 371, 383-84, 249 N.W.2d 810 (1977)). Courts use an objective standard to examine criminal negligence, measuring a defendant's acts "against whether a normally prudent person under the same circumstances should reasonably have foreseen such conduct exposed another to unreasonable risk and high probability of bodily harm." *State v. Barman*, 183 Wis. 2d 180, 199, 515 N.W.2d 493 (Ct. App. 1994).

Officer Hines testified that Caffero informed him that he and his girlfriend were burning incense in their bathroom and left that incense on a toilet paper roll (39:51-52; 20: Ex. 1.) Caffero admitted to Officer Hines that the incense and toilet paper roll were set on the floor of the bathroom (39:51.)

The trial court recapped the State's evidence accurately after Caffero's motion for a directed verdict. The court indicated that there was "testimony given that it appears a toilet paper roll was used, and there was incense placed between it, and that incense was left burning at some point during the night, and at some point, Mr. Caffero attempted to put out that incense burning, but that it rekindled." (39:110-111.) The court further stated that it "could be argued that having a toilet paper roll, setting on fire and not tending to it would have the foreseeable consequences of causing a fire." (39:111.) Finally, the court indicated that there was testimony that Caffero himself did manipulate the incense and toilet paper (39:112.)

The combination of Caffero manipulating or handling burning material, that material rekindling, and Caffero not properly tending to the rekindled material all created a substantial and unreasonable risk of death or great bodily harm to another, Wis. Stat. §939.25, and created circumstances in which he should have realized

that a substantial and unreasonable risk of serious damage to another's property was created, Wis. Stat. § 941.10.

The apartment complex in question was a two-story wood-framed apartment building with three units (39:101.) The resident of the apartment directly below Caffero's apartment was present at the time of the fire (39:114.) Detective Nathan Pauls indicated that a heavy burn pattern was identified in the bathroom area of Caffero's apartment (39:71.) This pattern was located directly between the toilet and bathtub where Caffero initially told law enforcement he had placed the paper and incense (39:71-72.) Investigators observed a hole in the floor that corresponded with the toilet paper roll as it was described (39:73.) Investigators testified to heavy damage to the apartment complex (39:97) and indicated that the damage and patterns were consistent with the origin being a burning toilet paper roll (39:99, 104-105.)

Caffero's handling of the burning materials – his lighting and manipulation of the material and, ultimately, his decision to leave the still-warm (39:56) material on the floor in a position where it ultimately burned through the floor and ignited a blaze – was criminally negligent. His actions, manipulations, and decisions created a substantial and unreasonable risk of death or great bodily harm to Caffero's neighbors, his girlfriend, and his child. Caffero's actions, manipulations, and decisions led to a burning incense stick and toilet paper roll igniting, and then created a situation where the still-warm and capable of rekindling material burned through the floor. Caffero should have realized the risk of lighting a stick of incense, leaving it on a roll of toilet paper, and then leaving the recently-ignited roll of paper in the middle of a bathroom floor instead of submerged in water or placed on a noncombustible surface. An ordinary person, having in mind all the circumstances of the case, including the seriousness of the probable consequences, would have considered the risk of these actions, manipulations, and decisions to be great.

Additionally, Caffero's actions, manipulations, and decisions showed that Caffero handled the burning material under circumstances in which the person should realize that a substantial and unreasonable risk of serious damage to another's property is created. Caffero's actions, manipulations, and decisions led to a burning incense stick and toilet paper roll igniting, and then created a situation where the still-warm and capable of rekindling material burned through the floor. Caffero should have realized that lighting a stick of incense, leaving it on a roll of toilet paper, and then leaving the recently-ignited roll of paper in the middle of a bathroom floor instead of submerged in water or placed on a non-combustible surface would create a substantial and unreasonable risk of property damage.

CONCLUSION

Given the evidence adduced at trial and the high burden associated with a challenge to sufficiency of the evidence, the State respectfully requests that this Court affirm the jury's verdict.